RECEIVED

Mar 23 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas for the Second Judicial Circuit

The Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2026-000123
Trial Court Case No.: 2025-CP-02-02223

Sage Mill Residential, Ltd.,

Appellant,

v.

Aiken County, South Carolina and Aiken County Planning
Commission,

Respondents,

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Ellis R. Lesemann
Michelle A. Stewart
Robert T. Bonds
Lesemann & Associates LLC
418 King Street, Suite 301
Charleston, South Carolina 29403
(843) 724-5155

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE PLANNING COMMISSION'S DENIAL OF THE REVISED PRELIMINARY PLAT WHERE THE PLANNING COMMISSION FAILED TO IDENTIFY ANY SPECIFIC NONCONFORMITY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OR LAND MANAGEMENT REGULATIONS, AS REQUIRED BY LAW, THEREBY RENDERING THE DECISION ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS, AND AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION?**

- II. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE DENIAL BASED ON AN INTERPRETATION OF THE COUNTY'S CORRIDOR LENGTH AND "DEAD-END STREET" REGULATIONS THAT IS CONTRARY TO THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE ORDINANCE AND INCONSISTENT WITH THE COUNTY'S LONGSTANDING INTERPRETATION AND APPLICATION OF THOSE PROVISIONS?**

- III. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION'S DECISION WAS SUPPORTED BY THE "ANY EVIDENCE" STANDARD WHERE THE PURPORTED CONCERN RELATING TO MILLIGAN AVENUE WAS NEVER RAISED OR DISCUSSED BY THE PLANNING COMMISSION, APPEARS NOWHERE IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE RECORD, WAS CONTROLLED BY ERRORS OF LAW, AND WAS FIRST ADVANCED BY RESPONDENTS SIX WEEKS AFTER SAGE MILL FILED THE STATUTORY APPEAL WITH THE CIRCUIT COURT?**

- IV. **IN A CASE THAT TURNS UPON OR INVOLVES INTERPRETATION OF A ZONING ORDINANCE, DID THE COURT ERR BY REFUSING TO APPLY THE CORRECT LEGAL STANDARD?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 21, 2025, the Planning Commission arbitrarily and unlawfully denied Sage Mill preliminary plat application for “Hawthorne,” a 102-lot residential development, without identifying any specific provision of the County’s Comprehensive Plan or Land Management Regulations with which the plat did not conform. The circuit court upheld the Planning Commission’s decision notwithstanding the lack of any competent basis for the denial in the administrative record. The circuit court also refused to apply the correct standard of review and, in doing so, committed a reversible error.

For more than 20 years, Sage Mill has been the developer of a planned unit development located in Aiken County known as “Trolley Run Station,” which has involved multiple phases. (Pet. p. 1.) The current phase, known as “Hawthorne at Trolley Run Station” (“Hawthorne”), is a single-family residential development project consisting of one hundred two (102) single family homes. Hawthorne is located within the existing Trolley Run Station PUD that was approved by Aiken County in 2006 and is currently zoned “PUD A.” The acreage that constitutes Hawthorne sits within a portion of TMS # 068-00-02-001 and a portion of TMS # 087-00-01-004. (Pet. pp. 1 – 2.) Initially, the County’s “Chief Development Official,” Joel T. Duke, who wields substantial influence over the County’s Planning Commission, claimed that Hawthorne was outside of the existing PUD. Mr. Duke eventually abandoned his position but pivoted to telling Sage Mill that no more applications within the existing PUD would be approved unless Sage Mill requested and obtained an amendment to the PUD that would significantly expand the size of the PUD. (Pet. p. 3.)

On November 5, 2024, the Hawthorne Application for Preliminary Plat Approval was submitted to the County by Sage Mill’s project team, Hass & Hilderbrand, Inc. (Pet. p. 3.) The

November 5, 2024 preliminary plat application was placed on the Planning Commission’s agenda for its December 19, 2024 meeting. (Mem. Supp. Appeal p. 4.) Based on the County’s policies and published meeting schedule, the Planning Commission was required to take action on the preliminary plat application during the public hearing on December 19, 2024. (Pet. pp. 3 – 4.) However, Sage Mill was prevented from asking the Planning Commission to vote on the proposal during the December 19, 2024 meeting because Joel Duke did not provide the Planning Department’s response and comments to the application until a few hours prior to the December 19, 2024 meeting. Sage Mill could not address the comments before the meeting that same day. (Pet. pp. 3 – 4.) As a result, Sage Mill was forced to seek deferral of the Planning Commission’s vote until the next meeting on January 16, 2025. Otherwise, the Planning Commission would almost certainly have denied the application based on the unresolved, belated comments received from Mr. Duke earlier that day, which would have resulted in a one-year waiting period before an application can be resubmitted. Notably, zero (0) citizens spoke in opposition to Petitioner’s application. (Pet. pp. 3 – 5.)

On January 15, 2025, the day before the next meeting, Joel Duke emailed Sage Mill to state that the Planning Commission would not recommend approval of, or even consider, the Preliminary Plat for Hawthorne or any other subdivision that was approved in the 2006 PUD unless and until Sage Mill submits and obtains approval for an additional PUD relating to other parcels, *i.e.*, “Trolley Run Station PUD, Phase 2.” (Pet. p. 5; Ex. A to Pet.) Within the email, Mr. Duke indicated that he had engaged in outside communications with one or more Planning Commissioners outside of the regular process and stated that he was of the impression that they agreed with him, *i.e.*, that Sage Mill be required to expand the existing PUD or obtain an additional PUD in order to receive action on a preliminary plat application that is within the existing PUD.

(Ex. A to Pet.) As the County’s Chief Development Official, Mr. Duke’s message to Sage Mill was clear: either submit to Mr. Duke’s request or refuse and face certain denial by the Planning Commission. (Pet. pp. 5 – 6.) Based on the County’s statements the day before the meeting, Sage Mill again sought deferral of the Planning Commission’s review of the Preliminary Plat during the Planning Commission’s meeting on January 16, 2025. (Pet. p. 6.)

On June 18, 2025, counsel for Sage Mill asked that the preliminary plat application for Hawthorne be placed on the agenda for the Planning Commission’s August 21, 2025 meeting.¹ (Pet. p. 6.) On July 7, 2025, in accordance with the County’s published meeting schedule, Sage Mill submitted a revised preliminary plat (the “Revised Preliminary Plat”) addressing the comments from the prior submission. (Ex. C to Pet.; HAWTHORNE pp. 0204 – 0207.) During the work session held immediately prior to the August 21, 2025 meeting, Joel Duke stated that Sage Mill had “demanded” that action be taken on the Revised Preliminary Plat prior to the expiration of the County’s 45-day review period. (Pet. p. 11.) However, because August 21, 2025 is forty-five (45) calendar days after July 7, 2025, which was also the published submission deadline, Mr. Duke’s statement is false, because action by the Planning Commission was required to be taken by state law, not due to any demand by Sage Mill. Furthermore, during the 45-day period between the submission of the Revised Preliminary Plat and the meeting on August 21, 2025, Mr. Duke chose to not issue a staff report or issue any comments regarding the July 7, 2025 submission. (Pet. p. 11; Mem. Supp. Appeal p. 5.)

¹ Although the November 5, 2024 preliminary plat submission was superseded by Sage Mill’s Revised Preliminary Plat submitted on July 7, 2025, the agenda packet for the August 21, 2025 meeting included comments about the November 5, 2024 preliminary plat submission only.

A. August 21, 2025 Planning Commission Meeting

During the August 21, 2025 meeting, Sage Mill provided a presentation relating to the Revised Preliminary Plat through legal counsel and the engineer of record, Tilden Hildebrand, P.E. (HAWTHORNE pp. 0084 – 0110.) The Chairman of the Planning Commission, Jason Palmer, repeatedly interrupted Sage Mill’s presentation by interjecting a series on objections. (HAWTHORNE p. 0092, lines 11 – 15.) Each of Mr. Palmer’s objections was conclusively addressed. The Chairman’s first asserted objection related to the “outstanding concern of 2,500 feet of ingress/egress.” (HAWTHORNE p. 0093, lines 15 – 20.) In response, Mr. Duke suggested that the road design might violate the County’s length requirements applicable to “dead end streets” absent certainty when the road would connect in the future. (HAWTHORNE p. 0094, line 19 – p. 0097, line 9.) Mr. Duke responded that the “question about whether or not there’s a dead-end corridor still exists.” (HAWTHORNE p. 0097, lines 8 – 9.)

Under the Aiken County Land Management Regulations, a “dead-end street” is “[a] street with a single common ingress and egress point and without a turnaround at the end.” *See* Aiken Co. Land Mgt. Reg. § 24-2.10.12 (“*Street, dead-end.* A street with a single common ingress and egress point and without a turnaround at the end.”) The length requirement cited by the Chairman states as follows: “***Dead-end streets designed to be permanently closed at one (1) end*** shall not exceed two thousand five hundred (2,500) feet in length, measured from the right-of-way of the connecting street to the center point of the turn-around.” *See* Aiken Co. Land Mgt. Reg. § 24-7.3.4 (emphasis added). Sage Mill, through counsel and the engineer of record, explained that the Revised Preliminary Plat does not involve a dead-end street under the County’s ordinances, by definition and as applied. (HAWTHORNE p. 0097, line 15 – p. 0099, line 18; HAWTHORNE p. 0102, line 2 – p. 0106, line 7.) A review of the Revised Preliminary Plat, even by a layperson,

neighborhoods in Aiken County previously approved with corridors exceeding 2,500 feet where stub-outs or interim turnarounds were present. (Pet. p. 10.) Sage Mill recited this list to the Planning Commissioners and to Mr. Duke during the August 21, 2025 meeting. (HAWTHORNE p. 0098, lines 10 – 20; p. 0100, lines 7 – 10. One example discussed during the August 21, 2025 meeting is the Ashland Subdivision within Trolley Run that was previously approved by the Planning Commission. Mr. Duke attempted to explain that, although it was true that the prior applications had been approved, the Planning Commission was now taking a different approach. (HAWTHORNE p. 0100, line 8 – p. 0101, line 14.) Notwithstanding the fact that Hawthorne is one of multiple phases within the existing Trolley Run Station PUD, which has already been considered and approved by the County, the Planning Commission’s Chairman expressed his “personal feeling that we’re just adding more homes, more roadways without any relief to that area that is already a concern for the County and DOT.” (HAWTHORNE p. 0106, lines 14 – 17.)

Planning Commissioner Robert “Lee” Bodie made a motion to deny the Revised Preliminary Plat. As indicated in the transcript of the August 21, 2025 meeting, Mr. Bodie moved to deny the application on the following basis:

I move to deny the application because I believe the applicant has failed to provide the supporting documentation that is needed to satisfy the request and questions of both staff and commission.

(HAWTHORNE p. 0113, lines 18 – 23.) The motion passed by a 4-2 vote, with one member abstaining. (HAWTHORNE p. 0115, lines 22 – 23.) Three of the Commissioners who voted to deny the Revised Preliminary Plat were included in the email from Mr. Duke dated August 15,

2025 that was sent outside of the Planning Commission meeting to three members who voted to deny Sage Mill’s application, but not to the other members.² (Pet. p. 6.)

During the August 21, 2025 meeting, the Sage Mill team presented the fully compliant Revised Preliminary Plat and no evidence or explanation was presented by the Planning Commission or the County to show that the Revised Preliminary Plat did not comply with the County’s Land Management Regulations or the Comprehensive Plan. Although Mr. Duke and the Chairman of the Planning Commission attempted to raise the issue of corridor distance, their position is contradicted by the language of the ordinance and the interpretation that has been applied by the County for decades. In fact, Mr. Duke acknowledged during the meeting that the language of the ordinance “does state – there’s no way to – to state otherwise that is says, ‘designed to be permanently closed at one end.’” (HAWTHORNE p. 0112, lines 12 – 18.) Nevertheless, the Planning Commission applied an arbitrary and contradictory interpretation to deny the Revised Preliminary Plat.

B. Appeal to the Circuit Court

On August 26, 2025, Sage Mill filed the Petition of Appeal with the circuit court in accordance with S.C. Code § 6-29-1150 on the grounds that Planning Commission’s failure to approve the Preliminary Plat was based on errors of law, was made on the basis of improper considerations, did not follow the legally applicable criteria, had no legal evidence to support it, and/or was the result of arbitrary and unreasonable action, including the motion by Bodie to deny the Preliminary Plat because the Applicant had allegedly “failed to provide requested information.” (Pet.; Mem. Supp. Appeal.)

² The three members of the Planning Commission included on the email were: (i) Jason Palmer; (ii) Liz Stewart; and (iii) Lee Bodie, each of whom voted to deny Sage Mill’s application.

A hearing on the Petition for Appeal was held on October 7, 2025. The undersigned counsel appeared on behalf of Sage Mill. Andrew Lindemann appeared on behalf of Respondents. During the hearing, counsel for Respondents argued that the information that was lacking “obviously” related to Milligan Avenue. (Hearing Tr. 36 – 40.) No mention of Milligan Avenue was made at any time during the August 21, 2025 Planning Commission meeting. (HAWTHORNE pp. 0082 – 0116.) In fact, the word “Milligan” does not appear once in the hearing transcript, (HAWTHORNE p. 121). Nor was “Milligan Avenue” a basis for the motion to deny. (HAWTHORNE p. 0113, lines 18-23.) The alleged concern relating to Milligan Avenue was not obvious to Sage Mill because it was never cited as a concern by the County or the Planning Commission. Likewise, it was not “obvious” to Tilden Hilderbrand, the Engineer of Record for Hawthorne, who addressed the issue raised by Joel Duke and members of the Planning Commission during the August 21, 2025, Planning Commission meeting relating to the length of Keagen Boulevard. (HAWTHORNE p. 0096, lines 16 – 25; HAWTHORNE p. 0102, lines 2 – p. 0103, line 10.) Neither Mr. Duke nor any member of the Planning Commission indicated an issue relating to Milligan Avenue.

In affirming the decision of the Planning Commission, the circuit court concluded that the “any evidence” standard was met because Mr. Hilderbrand, the Engineer of Record for Hawthorne, failed to respond to “various comments” without further analysis into whether the Planning Commission had articulated a discernible, ordinance-based request for the information sought in response to the “various comments.” (Order p. 6.) The Circuit Court was informed of the applicable exceptions and relevant modifications to the “any evidence” standard that are applicable to this case, but refused to apply them. In addition, the circuit court found that Sage Mill “failed to address the dead-end corridor maximum distance associated with the northern end of Milligan Avenue and specifically did not provide any assurances of future connectivity with Catenary

Boulevard which would be outside of the approved PUD.” (Order p. 9.) The circuit court found that Sage Mill’s “counsel was given the opportunity to address that issue before the Planning Commission and failed to do so.” (Order, p. 9.) The circuit court found that the concerns by Joel Duke and the member of the Planning Commission in denying the Revised Preliminary Plat “*likely* focused on Milligan Avenue,” a factual determination that has no basis in the record before the Planning Commission. (Order p. 7.) The transcript of the August 21, 2025 Planning Commission meeting confirms that the northern end of Milligan Avenue was not raised by the Planning Commission or the County during the August 21, 2025 meeting of the Planning Commission. (HAWTHORNE pp. 0082 – 0116.) Milligan Avenue is entirely absent from the administrative record but appears throughout the Order affirming the Planning Commission’s decision. (Order pp. 7 – 9.)

The circuit court did not rule on the issue raised by Sage Mill relating to the Planning Commission’s interpretation of the term “dead-end street” being contrary to the plain wording of the County’s Ordinances. (Pet. pp. 9 – 12.) The circuit court found that Sage Mill waived this argument because Sage Mill “failed to address the dead-end corridor maximum distance associated with the northern end of Milligan Avenue.” (Order p. 9.) This was circular reasoning; an applicant would not be expected to address something (i.e., Milligan Avenue) that was never raised. Separately, the illegitimacy of the County’s proffered interpretation of the term “dead-end street” was discussed at length during the August 21, 2025 Planning Commission meeting, with specific reference to Keegan Boulevard. (HAWTHORNE p. 0097, line 15 – p. 0099, line 18; HAWTHORNE p. 0102, line 2 – p. 0106, line 7.) The alleged concern regarding Milligan Avenue was never raised by the Planning Commission or Joel Duke, is entirely absent from the record of the August 21, 2025 meeting of the Planning Commission, and was advanced by for the first time during the

circuit court appeal by Respondents, not Sage Mill. Throughout this frustrating exercise, the fact that there are no “dead end streets” within the proposed development somehow got lost, even though Sage Mill dutifully repeated this fact until it was blue in the face. The same result occurred when Sage Mill reiterated that the legal standard was different in this case because it involved application of a zoning ordinance. After receiving the Court’s ruling, Sage Mill filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied December 18, 2025.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

S.C. Code § 6-29-840, provides that “[t]he **findings of fact** by the board of appeals must be treated in the same manner as a finding of fact by a jury, and the court may not take additional evidence.” *Id.* (emphasis added). A decision of a county planning commission will be overturned on appeal where the findings “have no evidentiary support,” or the Planning Commission “has committed an error of law.” *See Grays Hill Baptist Church v. Beaufort Cnty.*, 431 S.C. 630, 637, 850 S.E.2d 29, 33 (2020). Separately, however, a decision of a zoning board (such as a planning commission) “will be overturned if it is arbitrary, capricious, has no reasonable relation to a lawful purpose,” or when the commission “has abused its discretion.” *Id.* In addition, a decision will not be upheld where it is “based on errors of law, where there is no legal evidence to support it.” *Kurschner v. City of Camden Plan. Comm’n*, 376 S.C. 165, 174, 656 S.E.2d 346, 351 (2008) An abuse of discretion occurs when a decision is based upon an error of law or lacks evidentiary support. *See, e.g., Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc. v. Greenville Cnty. Plan. Comm’n*, 426 S.C. 97, 103, 825 S.E.2d 721, 724 (Ct. App. 2019) (“An abuse of discretion occurs [when] the trial court is controlled by an error of law or [when] the [c]ourt’s order is based on factual conclusions without evidentiary support”).

Additionally, South Carolina law calls for a modified standard of review if the issue before a zoning board concerns the construction of an ordinance. “Although great deference is accorded the decisions of those charged with interpreting and applying local zoning ordinances, ‘**a broader and more independent review is permitted when the issue concerns the construction of an ordinance.**’” *Charleston Cnty. Parks & Recreation Comm’n v. Somers*, 319 S.C. 65, 67, 459 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1995) (internal citation omitted) (emphasis added); *see also Christ Cent. Ministries v. City of Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 424 S.C. 358, 361, 818 S.E.2d 30, 31 (Ct. App. 2018) (confirming that “[i]ssues involving the construction of an ordinance are reviewed as a matter of law under a broader standard of review than is applied in reviewing issues of fact.”)

“As to questions of law, this [C]ourt’s standard of review is *de novo*.” *Id.* The South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized that while great deference is accorded the decisions of those charged with interpreting and applying local ordinances, “a broader and more independent review is permitted when the issue concerns the construction of an ordinance.” *See Charleston Cnty. Parks & Recreation Comm’n v. Somers*, 319 S.C. 65, 67, 459 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1995); *see also Christ Cent. Ministries v. City of Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 424 S.C. 358, 361, 818 S.E.2d 30, 31 (Ct. App. 2018) (“Issues involving the construction of an ordinance are reviewed as a matter of law under a broader standard of review than is applied in reviewing issues of fact.”) Furthermore, when the issue involves a **zoning** ordinance, an additional modification to the standard of review for a decision from a zoning board applies:

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