RECEIVED

Aug 03 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Walton J. McLeod, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-000123
Case No. 2025-CP-02-02223

Sage Mill Residential, Ltd., Appellant,

v.

Aiken County, South Carolina and Aiken County Planning Commission, Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN
LINDEMANN LAW FIRM, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 102
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

Counsel for Respondents

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

be permanent – but rather would be connected to an east-west street such as Catenary Boulevard in the future.

² Of note, the Circuit Court also ruled as follows: “While the Petitioner’s counsel addressed the issue before this Court, his arguments were raised for the first time on appeal, which is untimely, and “additionally, those arguments do not compel [the] finding of any legal

While the Appellant’s counsel was permitted to and attempted to respond to Duke’s concerns with the dead-end corridor maximum distance during the August 21, 2022 meeting, *he never addressed the concerns with Milligan Avenue dead-ending at its north end within the Hawthorne subdivision or that the property to the north could not be counted on with certainty for future development because it was outside the approved PUD and the Appellant had withdrawn the application to revise the PUD to include those areas.* As the Respondents have pointed out, the Appellant’s avoidance of those concerns has continued in its appeal to this Court. *In its Petition for Appeal, the Appellant makes no mention of the dead-end of Milligan Avenue at its north end within the Hawthorne subdivision and only addresses the south-end that ties into the traffic circle within the Ashland subdivision (although the Appellant misidentifies Milligan Avenue as Trolley Run Boulevard).* See, *Petition for Appeal*, ¶ 31. Likewise, in its appellate brief filed October 6, 2025, the Appellant only addresses the dead-end corridor maximum distance with respect to Keagen Boulevard, which again is not a street within the Hawthorne subdivision.

(R. 8-9). (Emphasis added).

This issue thus presents two critical procedural hurdles that the Appellant cannot meet. First and foremost, South Carolina law does not permit a litigant from arguing a ground for appeal that was not raised in its Petition for Appeal. Moreover, the law does not permit an amendment of the Petition for Appeal more than thirty days after the appeal is filed. This issue is governed by this Court’s decision in *Austin v. Board of Zoning Appeals*, 362 S.C. 29, 606 S.E.2d 209 (Ct. App. 2004). In that case, this Court ruled that “the circuit court correctly refused Austin’s request to amend the petition after the expiration of [the] 30-day period for filing the appeal.” 606 S.E.2d at 214. This Court explained that “[w]hen reviewing a Board decision, the circuit court sits as an appellate court,” and as such, the Rules of Civil Procedure, including Rule 15, do not apply to nor authorize amendments of a notice of appeal. *Id.* In this case, the

error committed by the Planning Commission.” (R. 9). On appeal to this Court, the Appellant does not challenge this ruling that the merits of the issue related to Milligan Avenue were untimely asserted for the first time during the Circuit Court oral argument.

Appellant made no attempt to amend, but instead he attempted in a Motion for Reconsideration to argue the merits with respect to the dead-end corridor maximum distance associated with the northern end of Milligan Avenue. However, as the Circuit Court correctly ruled, and which the Appellant does not dispute, the issue as to the northern end of Milligan Avenue was never raised in the Petition for Appeal nor in the Appellant's appellate brief filed with the Circuit Court on October 6, 2025. Second, as another procedural hurdle, it is well settled that "a party cannot use a Rule 59(e) motion to advance an issue the party could have raised to the circuit court prior to judgment, but did not." *Stevens & Wilkinson of South Carolina, Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014). *See also, Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 392 S.E.2d 481 (Ct. App. 1990).

In sum, the Appellant's unpled and untimely argument does not require a reversal of the Planning Commission's decision. The transcript from the August 21, 2025 meeting reflects that the dead-end corridor maximum distance associated with the northern end of Milligan Avenue was raised and discussed by Duke, and as the Circuit Court correctly found, the Appellant never addressed the issue despite having the opportunity to do so. (R. 9). It is too late to make those arguments for the first time on appeal, when they should have been made to the Planning Commission, and that is particularly true when they are not even raised in the Petition for Appeal. Importantly, the Planning Commission denied the approval of the Subdivision Review Application and the revised preliminary plat because "the applicant has failed to provide the supporting documentation that is needed to satisfy the request and questions of both staff and Commission." (R. 178). As the Circuit Court correctly ruled, that decision is supported by the evidence.

The Appellant also in vain attempts to fall back on its previous position that Joel Duke and the Planning Commission were focused on the Keagen Boulevard rather than Milligan Avenue. That, however, is not borne out by the transcript. Duke referenced the “road that runs north from the extension of Keagen Boulevard,” that being Milligan Avenue. (R. 161:16-22). The concerns were expressed with respect to the connectivity (or lack thereof) with Catenary Boulevard, which is an east-west street to the north of the Hawthorne subdivision and which never intersects with Keagen Boulevard (also an east-west street). As discussed above, the Circuit Court’s analysis on this issue was correct. In particular, the Circuit Court ruled:

[A]s the record reflects, the concerns that were articulated by Joel Duke and the members of the Planning Commission likely focused on Milligan Avenue, which is a north-south roadway that is designed to tie into Keagen Boulevard to the south but which dead-ends to the north. The concern is that, while the Hawthorne subdivision is entirely within the approved PUD, but the property to the north of the Hawthorne subdivision is outside the approved PUD. Thus, any future development into which the north-end of Milligan Avenue could ultimately be connected is outside the scope of the approved PUD.

(R. 7). Accordingly, as to the merits, the Appellant did not demonstrate to the Planning Commission nor on appeal to the Circuit Court that the north end of Milligan Avenue is not intended to be a “dead-end street.” The plat shows the north end of Milligan Avenue as a dead-end, and if there is no future expansion of Milligan Avenue north of the Hawthorne subdivision and beyond the parameters of the current approved PUD, there is no connectivity to Catenary Boulevard. Additionally, as discussed above, the Appellant did not establish before the Planning Commission that the plat complies with Aiken County Ordinance § 24.7.3(4)(a) without the requisite evidence or assurances that there would eventually be connectivity to Catenary Boulevard. As the Circuit Court ruled, neither the interpretation nor the application of the ordinance was in error. Indeed, the Circuit Court found that “the dead-end corridor maximum

distance associated with the northern end of Milligan Avenue is a legitimate issue of concern which cannot be characterized as ‘arbitrary’ or ‘capricious.’” (R. 9). That ruling should be affirmed.

III. The Appellant’s appeal is barred by operation of the “two-issue rule” because the Appellant failed to appeal each separate and alternative basis by the Circuit Court for affirming the decision of the Aiken County Planning Commission.

As the Circuit Court also found, the “dead-end corridor” issue was not the only issue where the record reflects that the Appellant did not satisfy the questions of staff and the Commission. As the Circuit Court explained, the record contained evidence that the July 7, 2025 letter of Tilden Hilderbrand responding to the staff comments from December 19, 2024, was not fully responsive to the issues raised therein. (R. 350-353). As the Circuit Court observed, “there are a number of responses by Hilderbrand to specific comments where he declined to provide the requested information or declined to make the requested revisions. A review of those responses shows there are numerous responses where Hilderbrand took the position that the requests were ‘not required’ for various reasons.” (R. 6). Accordingly, the Circuit Court ruled “that the failure of Mr. Hilderbrand to respond to various comments, which are in the record, meets the ‘any evidence’ standard and supports the Planning Commission’s decision that ‘the applicant has failed to provide the supporting documentation that is needed to satisfy the request and questions of both staff and Commission.’” (R. 8).

The Appellant, however, has not appealed from that separate and independent ruling by the Circuit Court. Hence, the Circuit Court’s decision should be affirmed, at the very least, based on the “two-issue” rule. In applying the “two-issue” rule, the Supreme Court has explained that “where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will

affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case." *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010). Similarly, in *Folkens v. Hunt*, 290 S.C. 194, 348 S.E.2d 839 (Ct. App. 1986), this Court held that "[a]n alternative ruling of a lower court that is not excepted to constitutes a basis for affirming the lower court and is not reviewable on appeal." 348 S.E.2d at 845. In short, the unappealed ruling is the law of the case and, separate from the "dead-end corridor" issue, that ruling on its own requires an affirmance of the court below.

IV. The written record, including the transcript, sufficiently provides the basis for the Aiken County Planning Commission's decision, and if the decision was unclear, the Appellant should have requested clarification from the Planning Commission rather than raising the issue for the first time on appeal.

The Appellant further argues that the Planning Commission cannot deny the revised preliminary plat unless it identifies a nonconformity with requirements of the comprehensive plan or applicable ordinances and regulations. The Appellant contends that the Planning Commission refused to provide the reasons for the denial of the Subdivision Review Application and the revised preliminary plat as presented. That is not the case.

To recap, the minutes and the transcript reflect that Commissioner Lee Bodie made a motion "that we deny the application because I believe the applicant has failed to provide the supporting documentation that is needed to satisfy the request and questions of both staff and Commission." (R. 178). That motion passed by a 4-2 vote. (R. 180). Thus, the denial of the application and plat was based on the absence of sufficient evidence to demonstrate compliance with the applicable ordinances. In effect, as the Planning Commission indicated, the Appellant

failed to provide supporting documentation to address the questions raised by the staff and the Commission members. That is a sufficient basis for a denial.

Yet, if the Appellant truly believed that the basis for the denial was unclear, the record reflects that there was no request made by the Appellant or its counsel, who was present when the vote was taken, for any clarification of the motion or the ultimate decision. (R. 178-181). Instead, this issue was raised for the first time on appeal to the Circuit Court, which is untimely.

Nonetheless, the law provides that that the decision of the Planning Commission and the basis for that decision may be gleaned from the transcript of the proceedings. There is no requirement under Section 6-29-1150 for a Planning Commission to issue a formal order. *See, Alliance to Preserve the Old White Horse Road Corridor, LLC v. RP&L, LLC*, 447 S.C. 649, 930 S.E.2d 21, 26 (Ct. App. 2026)) (agreeing with the lower court’s “ruling that the applicable statutes do not require the Planning Commission to issue a formal written decision setting forth findings of fact and conclusions of law”). Moreover, as this Court has previously ruled, “it is well-settled that courts reviewing the decisions of zoning boards and other administrative agencies may look to written documents as well as records of proceedings as sufficient formats for final decisions.” *Austin v. Board of Zoning Appeals*, 362 S.C. 29, 606 S.E.2d 209, 212 (Ct. App. 2004). *See also, Vulcan Materials Co. v. Greenville County Board of Zoning Appeals*, 342 S.C. 480, 536 S.E.2d 892 (Ct. App. 2000) (same). Further, this Court has explained that “not all situations require a detailed order, and ... [a] form order may be sufficient if the appellate court can ascertain the basis for the circuit court's ruling from the record on appeal.” *Porter v. Labor Depot*, 372 S.C. 560, 643 S.E.2d 96, 100 (Ct. App. 2007). In this case, the written record, including the transcript, sufficiently provides the basis for the Planning Commission’s decision, as discussed

herein, and if the decision was unclear, the Appellant should have requested clarification from the Planning Commission rather than raising this issue for the first time on appeal.

V. The Circuit Court applied the correct standard of review.

Lastly, the Appellant contends that the Circuit Court applied an incorrect standard of review. This is also an issue raised for the first time on appeal to this Court. It was never raised to nor addressed by the Circuit Court, and in fact, the Appellant had the opportunity in its Motion for Reconsideration to challenge the standard of review as applied by the Circuit Court in its initial order affirming the Planning Commission's decision, but it did not do so

In *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004), the Supreme Court explained that "[i]ssues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court." 602 S.E.2d at 779-780. "Error preservation requirements are intended 'to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.'" *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 594 S.E.2d 485, 498 (Ct. App. 2004), citing *I'On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). "It is well settled that an appellate court cannot address an issue unless it was raised to, and ruled upon by, the trial court." *Id.* (Emphasis in original). The reason for that is clear: the trial court must have "the opportunity promptly to correct their own alleged errors." *Elam*, 602 S.E.2d at 779.³ See also, *Pelican Building Centers v. Dutton*, 311 S.C. 56, 427 S.E.2d 673, 675 (1993) (issue not preserved for appeal where the ruling is made first in a post-

³ This rule of law is consistent with the longstanding precedent that "South Carolina appellate courts do not recognize the 'plain error rule,' under which a court in certain circumstances is allowed to consider and rectify an error not raised below by the party." *Elam*, 602 S.E.2d at 780.

trial order and is not challenged by a subsequent Rule 59(e) motion); *I'On, LLC*, 526 S.E.2d at 724 (“[t]he losing party must first try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred”).

The preservation issues aside, the record reflects that the Circuit Court did apply the correct standard of review. The Circuit Court, as required by the decision in *Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Commission*, 376 S.C. 165, 656 S.E.2d 346 (2008), applied an “any evidence” standard to factual questions and a *de novo* standard to any issue of law. After identifying the issues on appeal, the Circuit Court writes: “After review of these issues in accordance with the standard of review articulated by the Supreme Court, the Court finds that the Planning Commission’s ruling [is] supported by evidence in the record and do[es] not constitute an error of law.” (R. 6). The Circuit Court later found that “the dead-end corridor maximum distance associated with the northern end of Milligan Avenue is a legitimate issue of concern which cannot be characterized as ‘arbitrary’ or ‘capricious.’” (R. 9). Moreover, the Circuit Court found that the “the Petitioner has not demonstrated an abuse of discretion.” (R. 9). Consequently, the order reflects that the Circuit Court applied the correct standard of review, and certainly, the Appellant has not demonstrated any specific ruling that indicated to the contrary. Thus, if this issue related to the standard of review is even preserved since it was not raised by way of a Rule 59(e) motion to the Circuit Court after its initial decision was issued, the record demonstrates that the correct standard of review was indeed applied.

CONCLUSION

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